
ANNUAL REPORT

09

Stock Code : 8100

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)



CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK 

EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies 

to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on 

the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of 

investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and 

careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean 

that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that 

securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than 

securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given 

that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility 

for the contents of  this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and 

expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon 

the whole or any part of  the contents of  this report.

This report, for which the directors of  M Dream Inworld Limited (the “Company”) collectively 

and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules 

(“GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of  Securities on the GEM of  the Stock Exchange for 

the purpose of  giving information with regard to the Company. The directors, having made all 

reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of  their knowledge and belief: (1) the information 

contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; 

(2) there are no other matters the omission of  which would make any statement in this report 

misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful 

consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Executive Directors

Ms. Li Fang Hong, aged 37, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing 
Director of  the Company on 19 May 2008. Ms. Li was graduated from the Zhejiang University with a 
doctor degree in optical engineering. She has profound knowledge and experience in the research 
and development of  electro-optical technology gained in Japan and the People’s Republic of  China 
(“PRC”). Ms. Li presently is the managing director of  a company in the field of  electro-optical 
displays in the PRC.

Mr. Rong Hsu, age 59, was appointed as the Independent Non-executive Director of  the 
Company on 26 March 2008 and was subsequently re-designated to be the Executive Director 
with effect from 11 December 2008. Mr. Hsu obtained his Mechanical Engineering Degree from the 
National Taiwan University, later on received his Masters Degree in Material Science from Brown 
University, USA and a Ph.D. in Material Engineering from the University of  Maryland, USA. Mr. Hsu 
has been working in the science and technology field for more than 23 years. He is a founding 
member and senior advisor of  the Chinese American Semiconductor Professional association. Mr. 
Hsu has been serving as independent director for ChipMos technology, Limited which is a company 
listed in NASDAQ.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Zhao Yang was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on 6 March 2008. 
Ms. Zhao, aged 51, was graduated at Shen Yang Institute of  Education and has been practicing law 
in the PRC since 1986. Ms. Zhao was once awarded “Shen Yang’s Best Ten Lawyers”. She is now 
a lawyer of  Guangdong Liren Law Firm in Shenzhen and also acts as the Secretary of  the Seventh 
Department of  Communist in Shenzhen Lawyers Association.

Mr. Cho Chun Wai was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director and chairman 
of  the Audit Committee with effect from 19 November 2008. Mr. Cho, aged 33, obtained his 
Bachelor Degree of  Arts in Accountancy and Master Degree of  Corporate Finance from The Hong 
Kong Polytechnic University, Mr. Cho is a fellow member of  the Hong Kong Institute of  Certified 
Public Accountants. Mr. Cho has been working in the accounting and finance field for various 
companies for more than ten years. He is now the Qualified Accountant and Finance Manager of  a 
company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director 
on 11 December 2008. Mr. Chan, aged 36, obtained his Bachelor Degree of  Commerce from 
The University of  British Columbia in Canada. Mr. Chan has been working in the accounting and 
corporate finance area for more than ten years. He is a member of  the American Institute of  
Certified Public Accountants, and is now serving as the executive director and company secretary 
of  China Windpower Group Limited and Wah Nam International Holdings Limited, both companies 
are currently listed on the main board of  the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan is also the independent 
non-executive director of  Jackin International Holdings Limited, which is also listed on the main 
board of  the Stock Exchange.

Board of Directors
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The year of  2009 could be marked as a year of  change to the Company. We have disposed 

the Singapore subsidiary which always was in lost position over the past years. And we have 

started the sales of  display equipment, components and related technology as a new business.

The income from this new business stream was yet to grow in 2009 as it was in an initial 

stage. With employment of  competent staff  and new offices opened, we expect the growth of  

this business will be remarkable in the coming years as the demand of  large display system such 

as video walls, interactive reading and signage display boards in China is enormous. We have 

actively submitted tenders of  different scales so to increase our sales, and we have established 

demonstration booths to display our products and technology in various high technology trade 

shows in China to build up our goodwill for long term. On the other hand the Company has already 

done some ground work for entering into the micro projection market, trying to launch proper 

products within this year. We are also considering bringing in business partners for this. We expect 

portable integrated projection TV and built-in projectors will become the trendy products for 

youngsters and professionals.

The world’s economy in general is on the way to recovery. China in particular is the engine 

of  the world’s economy as reflected in its economic growth of  over eight percent in 2009. With our 

business experience and network in there, the Company insists technology innovation and will try 

to develop other kinds of  high technology products to ride on the tide of  growth driven by high 

technology, as pinpointed in the “science development policy” stated by the Central Government of  

China.

The Company is seeking and exploring opportunities in developing business in green energy 

sector including the high efficient energy storage systems, electrical automobiles and smart grid 

etc. We hope in the near future we can make progress on them to bring in new values to the 

shareholders of  the Company.

Li Fang Hong

Managing Director

1 March 2010

Managing Director’s Statement
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report (“the Report”) together with the 

audited financial statements of  the Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) for the year 

ended 31 December 2009 (“the Year”).

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 as an exempted 

company with limited liability under the Company Laws of  the Cayman Islands. Its shares have 

been listed on the GEM of  the Stock Exchange since 31 December 2001.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of  its subsidiaries 

are detailed in note 17 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of  the principal activities and geographical locations of  operations of  the Group 

for the Year is set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Details of  the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the consolidated income statement 

on page 23 of  the Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of  a final dividend for the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to HK$200,000 (2008: 

HK$nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of  the Company’s share capital are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of  the Group and the Company during the Year are set out in 

consolidated statement of  changes in equity on page 27 of  the Report and in note 29 to the 

financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of  its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of  the 

Company’s shares during the Year.

Report of the Directors
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of  Association and 

the laws of  the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata 

basis to existing shareholders.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of  the movements in fixed assets of  the Group and the Company during the Year are 

set up in note 16 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of  sales for the Year attributable to the Group’s major customers are as 

follows:

Sales

– the largest customer 9%

– five largest customers combined 35%

The percentages of  purchases for the Year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers are as 

follows:

Purchases

– the largest supplier 64%

– five largest suppliers combined 85%

None of  the Directors, their respective associates and shareholders of  the Company (which 

to the knowledge of  the Directors own more than 5% of  the issued capital of  the Company) had 

any interest in any of  the five largest customers and suppliers (other than the largest supplier) of  

the Group for the Year. The largest supplier from purchases for the Year was treated as Continuing 

Connected Transactions as disclosed in note 34(b) to the financial statements.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 13 January 2010, the Group acquired a 40% equity interest in Cellex Investment Limited 

for a cash consideration of  HK$600,000.

Report of the Directors
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of  the results and of  the assets and liabilities of  the Group for the past five 

financial years is set out on page 92 of  the Report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the Framework Agreement for the Continuing Connected 

Transactions during the Year with the Greatsource Group which is controlled by Ms. Li Fang Hong 

and her associate(s). Ms. Li Fang Hong is the Managing Director and a substantial shareholder of  

the Company. The details of  the Framework Agreement and the Continuing Connected Transactions 

are contained in the circular of  the Company issued on 18 February 2009.

For the Year the amount of  the Continuing Connected Transactions was HK$4,608,000 which 

represented the amount of  goods the Group has purchased from the Greatsource Group.

The auditors of  the Company have reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions 

on an annual basis and they have issued a letter to the Board expressing their opinion on the 

Continuing Connected Transactions for the Year. Based on this letter from the auditors and after 

their own review, the Independent Non-executive Directors of  the Company confirm the Continuing 

Connected Transactions for the Year have been entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course 

of  business of  the Company; (b) either on normal commercial terms or, if  there are not sufficient 

comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less 

favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third parties; 

and (c) in accordance with the Framework Agreement governing them on terms that are fair and 

reasonable and in the interests of  the shareholders of  the Company as a whole.

Details of  the Continuing Connected Transactions of  the Group are set out in note 34(b) to 

the financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No Director of  the Company has any existing or proposed service contract with any member 

of  the Group (excluding contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within one year without 

payment of  compensation other than statutory compensation) during the Year and as at the date of  

the Report.

COMPETING INTEREST

None of  the Directors or the management shareholders of  the Company has any interest in a 

business which competes or may compete with the business of  the Group during the Year and as at 

the date of  the Report.

Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of  the Report were:

 Appointed on Resigned on

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Shu Kuen 30 January 2007 30 September 2009

Mr. Rong Hsu 26 March 2008

Ms. Li Fang Hong 19 May 2008

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Zhao Yang 6 March 2008

Mr. Cho Chun Wai 19 November 2008

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason 11 December 2008

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of  Association, Ms. Zhao Yang, Mr. Cho Chun Wai 

and Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at 

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations of  independence were received from 

each of  the Company’s existing Independent Non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of  

the GEM Listing Rules and all existing Independent Non-executive Directors are considered to be 

independent by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

None of  the Directors had any interests in any contracts of  significance in relation to the 

Group’s business to which the Company or any of  its subsidiaries was a party and in which a 

Director of  the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, and which subsisted 

at the end of  the Year or at any time during the Year except Director Ms. Li Fang Hong had an 

interest in the Continuing Connected Transactions with details as set out in note 34(b) to the 

financial statements.

Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of  the Directors and chief  

executives of  the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of  the Company or 

any of  its associated corporations (within the meaning of  Part XV of  the Securities and Futures 

Ordinance “SFO”, Chapter 571 under the Laws of  Hong Kong), which were notified to the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of  Part XV of  the SFO (including any 

interests and short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions 

of  the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of  the SFO, to be entered in the 

register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of  the GEM 

Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

 Personal Corporate Total Percentage

Name of Director interests interests interests of interests

Mr. Yu Shu Kuen – 273,333,333 273,333,333 25.00%

  (note 1)

Ms. Li Fang Hong – 206,666,666 206,666,666 18.91%

  (note 2)

Notes:

1. These shares are held by Ample Field Limited of  which the entire issued capital is beneficially 

owned by Mr. Yu Shu Kuen. Accordingly, Mr. Yu Shu Kuen is deemed to be interested in these 

shares beneficially owned by Ample Field Limited. Mr. Yu Shu Kuen resigned as the Executive 

Director of  the Company on 30 September 2009.

2. These shares are held by Universal Target Limited and it is wholly owned by Eternal Mass 

Limited. Eternal Mass Limited is 40% beneficially owned by Ms. Li Fang Hong and the rest 60% 

is beneficially owned by Mr. Gui Song, who is the spouse of  Ms. Li Fang Hong. Accordingly, 

Eternal Mass Limited, Mr. Gui Song and Ms. Li Fang Hong are deemed to be interested in these 

shares beneficially owned by Universal Target Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, none of  the Directors or chief  executives 

of  the Company had any other interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or 

debentures of  the Company or any of  its associated corporations (within the meaning of  Part XV 

of  the SFO), which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 

7 and 8 of  Part XV of  the SFO (including any interests and short positions which they have taken 

or deemed to have taken under such provisions of  the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to 

section 352 of  the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required, 

pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of  the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange.

Report of the Directors

09

M DREAM
INWORLD LIMITED

ANNUAL
REPORT

2009



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT 
SECURITIES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of  its subsidiaries a party to any 

arrangements to enable the Directors and chief  executives, their respective spouses or children 

under the age of  18 to acquire benefits by means of  acquisition of  shares in or debentures of  the 

Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

2007 New Share Option Scheme

On 24 December 2007, this new share option scheme was approved by shareholders of  

the Company in an extraordinary general meeting. This scheme is to enable the Company to grant 

options to either Directors or employees of  the Group in order to recognize and motivate their 

contribution, provide incentives and to help the Group in retaining its existing employees and 

recruiting additional quality employees and to provide them with a direct economics interest in 

attaining the long term business objectives of  the Group.

No options were ever granted under this scheme as at 31 December 2009.

Details of  the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 28 to the financial 

statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge 

of  the Directors of  the Company as at the date of  this Report, the Company has maintained the 

prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

Report of the Directors
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2009, the following persons had, or were deemed to have, interests 

or short positions in the shares or underlying shares which would require to be disclosed to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of  Divisions 2 and 3 or Part XV of  the SFO 

or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of  the nominal value of  any class of  

share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of  any member of  the 

group, or substantial shareholder details required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of  

the SFO were as follows:

  Percentage of

 Number of the Company’s

Name of shareholders shares held share capital

Ample Field Limited (note 1) 273,333,333 25%

Mr. Yu Shu Kuen (note 1) 273,333,333 25%

Universal Target Limited (note 2) 206,666,666 18.91%

Eternal Mass Limited (note 2) 206,666,666 18.91%

Mr. Gui Song (note 2) 206,666,666 18.91%

Ms. Li Fang Hong (note 2) 206,666,666 18.91%

Notes:

1. These shares are held by Ample Field Limited of  which the entire issued capital is beneficially 

owned by Mr. Yu Shu Kuen. Accordingly, Mr. Yu Shu Kuen is deemed to be interested in these 

shares beneficially owned by Ample Field Limited.

2. These shares are held by Universal Target Limited and it is wholly owned by Eternal Mass 

Limited. Eternal Mass Limited is 40% beneficially owned by Ms. Li Fang Hong and the rest 60% 

is beneficially owned by Mr. Gui Song, who is the spouse of  Ms. Li Fang Hong. Accordingly, 

Eternal Mass Limited, Mr. Gui Song and Ms. Li Fang Hong are deemed to be interested in these 

shares of  the Company beneficially owned by Universal Target Limited.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of  reference in accordance 

with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of  the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee members as at the date 

of  this Report are Ms. Zhao Yang, Mr. Cho Chun Wai and Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason. They are 

the Independent Non-executive Directors of  the Company. The Audit Committee’s principal duties 

are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control procedures of  the 

Group. The Audit committee met on a quarterly basis during the Year.

The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been reviewed and discussed by the 

Audit Committee before any disclosure and release of  information.

Report of the Directors
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BOARD PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES

The Company has compiled with the board practices and procedures as set out in Rules 

5.34 of  the GEM Listing Rules during the Year.

AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited acted as auditors of  the Company for the year ended 31 

December 2009. Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited shall retire and offer themselves for re-appointment 

by the approval of  the Company shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Li Fang Hong

Managing Director

1 March 2010

Report of the Directors
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The Board of  Directors would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the Year.

In November 2004, The Stock Exchange promulgated the Code on Corporate Governance 

Practices contained in Appendix 15 of  the GEM Listing Rules which sets out corporate governance 

principles (“the Principles”) and code provisions (“the Code Provisions”) with which listed issuers 

are expected to follow and comply.

During the Year the Company has applied the Principles and on best effort basis complied 

with the Code Provisions except for Code Provision A2.1. Code Provision A2.1 requires the 

separation of  the roles of  Chairman and Chief  Executive Officer. The Chairman should be 

responsible for the management of  the board of  directors, whereas the daily management of  

business operations should rest on the Chief  Executive Officer.

The Company has complied with Code Provision A2.1 during the year until Mr. Yu Shu Kuen, 

the former Chairman of  the Company resigned on 30 September 2009. Since then, the Managing 

Director of  the Company, Ms. Li Fang Hong, has temporarily taken up the role as chairman while 

carrying out her duties as the Managing Director. The Company is actively seeking the right 

candidate to fill the vacancy and the appointment of  new chairman is expected soon.

Other key corporate governance principles and practices of  the Company are summarized 

as follows:

THE BOARD

(1) Responsibilities

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of  the Company and is 

collectively be responsible for promoting the success of  the Company. All Directors should take 

decisions objectively in the interests of  the Company.

As at 31 December 2009, the Board comprised two Executive Directors and three 

Independent Non-executive Directors. The biographies of  the Directors are set out on page 3 of  

this Report.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Board should meet regularly and at least four times a year at approximately quarterly 

intervals. Formal notice of  at least 14 days will be given to all Directors in respect of  a regular 

meeting. For special meetings, reasonable notice will be given to all Directors before each meeting. 

During the Year there were 12 board meetings conducted. The Directors were participated either 

in person or through other electronic means of  communication in the meetings. The attendance of  

Directors is summarized as follows:

Mr. Rong Hsu 9 meetings

Ms. Li Fang Hong 12 meetings

Ms. Zhao Yang 8 meetings

Mr. Chao Chun Wai 11 meetings

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason 10 meetings

The Board should agree procedures to enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek 

independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

All Directors should have access to the advice and services of  the company secretary with a 

view to ensuring that board procedures and all applicable rules are followed.

(2) Composition

The composition of  the Board reflects the balance of  skills and experience appropriate for 

the requirements of  the Company’s business and for the exercise of  independent decisions.

The Company has three Independent Non-executive Directors which is more than one-third 

of  the Board. They are professionals in different areas and provide independent opinions based on 

their expertise.

The Company has received from each of  the present Independent Non-executive Directors a 

confirmation of  independence. The Board considers each of  them to be independent by reference 

to the GEM Listing Rules.

(3) Appointments, re-election & removal of directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures for the 

appointment of  new directors. Although the Company has not set up a nomination committee, the 

Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating 

the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of  directors, monitoring the appointment 

and retirement of  directors and assessing the independence of  independent non-executive 

directors.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Company’s Articles of  Association has been amended by the approval of  shareholders. 

According to the present Company’s Articles of  Association all non-executive directors retire at 

each annual general meeting and are subject to re-elections by shareholders in the same meeting. 

Other relevant Articles state that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject 

to re-elections by shareholders at their first annual general meeting after appointment, and one-

third of  the directors for the time being, or if  their number is not three or a multiple of  three, then 

the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation at every annual 

general meeting. A retired director shall be eligible for re-election. All directors should retire by 

rotation at least once every three years including those appointed for a specific term.

Any director resigning or being removed should give explanations and reasons to the Board.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following statement, which sets out the responsibility of  Directors in relation to the 

financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent 

Auditor’s Report on pages 21 to 22 which acknowledges the reporting responsibility of  the Group’s 

Auditor.

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of  the Annual Report and 

financial statements of  the Company to ensure that these financial statements give a true and fair 

presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable accounting 

standards.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group applies 

appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted and makes judgements and 

estimates that are reasonable and prudent in accordance with the applicable accounting 

standards.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting records which 

disclose the financial position of  the Group upon which financial statements of  the Group could be 

prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

SAFEGUARDING ASSETS

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the 

assets of  the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within the Group.

Corporate Governance Report
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the 

first occasion of  his/her appointment, so to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of  

the business and operations of  the Company, and he/she is fully aware of  his/her responsibilities 

and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year approximately HK$555,000 has been given as professional fees to the 

external auditors. Among it approximately HK$365,000 was as audit fee, and HK$112,000 and 

HK$78,000 were as financial service fees respectively for the Very Substantial Disposal exercise 

completed in October and the Open Offer exercise completed in July of  the Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

(1) Remuneration Committee

Code Provision B1.1 stipulates that an issuer should establish a Remuneration Committee 

with specific written terms of  reference and a majority of  the members of  the Remuneration 

Committee should be independent non-executive directors.

The primary objectives of  the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations on 

the remuneration policy and structure of, and determining the specific remuneration packages of, 

all directors and senior management.

The Company has established its Remuneration Committee on 1 February 2007 and all the 

present Independent Non-executive Directors are the present committee members. The committee 

will conduct meetings to discuss the remuneration policy on directors and senior management 

when it is appropriate. During the Year, one meeting of Remuneration Committee was held 

and all committee members attended the meeting.

(2) Audit Committee

The main duties of  the Audit Committee include the following:

(a) To monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the repor ting of  the 

Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss with external auditors 

any significant financial reporting standards and guidelines applied to the financial 

statements.

(b) To consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in 

financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration to matters raised by the 

Company’s qualified accountant, compliance officer or external auditors.
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(c) To review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work 

performed by them, their fees and terms of  engagement, and make recommendations 

to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of  auditors.

(d) To review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management 

systems.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Year to review the financial results and 

reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control 

and risk management review and processes and the re-appointment of  external auditors. All the 

present Independent Non-executive Directors are the committee members and they 

attended all the four meetings.

The Audit Committee also held a meeting to review the annual results and the reporting of  it 

for the Year ended 31 December 2009.

DEALINGS FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has relied on Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of  the GEM Listing Rules as the required 

standard of  dealings in respect to any dealings of  the Company’s securities by the Company’s 

Directors. General and specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and they all confirmed 

they have complied with said GEM Listing Rules during the Year.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

According to the GEM Listing Rules, all resolutions proposed in any general meetings are by 

poll. Results on the voting will be posted on the websites of  the Stock Exchange and the Company 

by way of  an announcement on the business day following the general meeting.

The general meetings of  the company provide an opportunity for communication between 

the shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of  the Board as well as the chairmen of  the 

board committees or, in their absence, other members of  the respective committees and, where 

applicable, the independent board committee, are normally available to answer questions at the 

shareholders’ meetings.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In October 2009 the shareholders of  the Company have approved in a general meeting 

the disposal of  the Singapore subsidiary which is engaged in providing system solution services 

business. Although this subsidiary has achieved a turnover of  HK$5,226,000 during the period up 

to the date of  disposal, the loss absorbed by the Company was HK$2,587,000. The Company no 

longer has to take up the loss of  this subsidiary after the disposal.

The display business recorded a turnover of  HK$5,191,000 for the Year. There were contracts 

from both governmental and non-governmental entities engaged by the Beijing subsidiary. The 

Company is committed to put in its resources to strengthen this business.

The cash and cash equivalents of  the Group as at 31 December 2009 had HK$21,889,000 

and the Group remained in a very healthy cash position.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

The turnover of  the Group for continuing operation was HK$5,555,000 for the Year, 

representing an increase of  approximately 172% compared to the turnover for the year ended 31 

December 2008 of  approximately HK$2,042,000.

Loss for the year

The loss of  the Group attributable to the shareholders of  the Company for the Year was 

HK$14,166,000 compared to the same of  loss of  HK$8,358,000 for the year ended 31 December 

2008. This was mainly due to the increase in selling and administrative expenses for the Year as 

more management staff  have been employed and more offices were opened.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group’s total liabilities decreased to HK$1,592,000 as at 31 December 2009 from 

HK$4,064,000 as at 31 December 2008. The Group had HK$21,889,000 in cash and cash 

equivalents as at 31 December 2009 which was far more enough to settle its total liabilities. 

Therefore no liquidity problem is expected by the Group in the year of  2010.
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Capital structure

On 31 July 2009, the Company issued 273,279,476 offer shares at HK$0.045 per offer share 

by way of  an open offer on the basis of  one offer share for every three issued shares held on 8 July 

2009. The net proceed of  approximately HK$11,700,000 from the open offer was used for general 

working capital and future business expansion. Besides that there has been no significant change 

in the capital structure of  the Company for the Year.

Foreign exchange exposure

During the Year the business activities of  the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong 

dollars, Renminbi and Singapore dollars. The Directors did not consider the Group was exposed to 

any significant foreign currency exchange risk.

Significant investments

The Group had no significant investments during the Year.

Material acquisitions and disposals

The Group had no material acquisition during the Year and the Singapore subsidiary was 

disposed in October 2009. This disposal constituted a Very Substantial Disposal under the GEM 

Listing Rules and a circular relating to it was dispatched to the shareholders of  the Company on 12 

October 2009. The gain on this disposal is set out in note 10(a) to the financial statements.

Aging of trade receivables and payables

The aging of  the Group’s trade receivables and payables as at 31 December 2009 are set 

out in note 21 and note 23 to the financial statements respectively.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2009 the gearing ratio of  the Group was 5% (2008: 11%).

Employee information

The Group currently has about 20 employees (2008: 30) working in Hong Kong, Beijing and 

Shenzhen. The decrease of  headcount is due to the disposal of  the Singapore subsidiary.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2009 the Directors did not consider the Group had any contingent 

liabilities (2008: HK$nil).
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OUTLOOK

The Company will further strengthen its effort in the display business this year. There is 

great demand in large display system such as interactive reading and signage display boards and 

video walls in China and this is the market the Company is tackling. Some tenders for contracts of  

relatively large scale have been proposed, and it would bring in new momentum in development if  

the Company could obtain the contracts.

Micro projection is another arena of  display business with lots of  potential. Por table 

integrated projection TV and built-in projectors are expected to be the trendy products for 

youngsters and professionals. The Company has already done some ground work to enter 

this market and proper products may be able to launch within this year. The Company is also 

considering bringing in business partners for this.

Due to global warming, pushing for low carbon emission and develop green energy are the 

works being promoted by the world and the Chinese government. The Company is seeking and 

exploring opportunities in high efficient energy storage systems, electrical automobiles and smart 

grid etc. By doing so the Company intends not only to capture the potential but also to diversify its 

business scope.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of

M Dream Inworld Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of  M Dream Inworld Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 23 to 91, which comprise 

the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated 

income statement, the consolidated statement of  comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of  changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, 

and a summary of  significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of  the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair 

presentation of  these financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of  Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure 

requirements of  the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair 

presentation of  financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 

that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 

audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of  this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of  Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of  the risks of  material misstatement of  the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of  the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of  expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of  the entity’s internal control. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of  accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of  accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of  the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of  the state 

of  affairs of  the Company and of  the Group as at 31 December 2009 and of  the Group’s loss and 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of  the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 1 March 2010

Andrew David Ross

Practising certificate number P01183
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  2009 2008

 Notes $’000 $’000

   (Re-presented)

Continuing operations
Turnover 4 5,555 2,042

Cost of  sales  (4,662) (1,754)
   

Gross profit  893 288

Other revenue and net income/(loss) 5 300 (515)

Selling and administrative expenses  (14,465) (8,160)
   

Loss from operations  (13,272) (8,387)

Finance costs 6(a) (15) –
   

Loss before taxation 6 (13,287) (8,387)

Income tax credit 7 – 7
   

Loss for the year from continuing operations  (13,287) (8,380)

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued

 operations 10(b) (1,486) 300
   

Loss for the year  (14,773) (8,080)
    

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of  the Company  (14,166) (8,358)

Minority interests  (607) 278
   

  (14,773) (8,080)
    

Loss per share 14

From continuing and discontinued operations

 Basic  (HK1.51 cents) (HK1.02 cents)

 Diluted  N/A N/A
    

From continuing operations

 Basic  (HK1.42 cents) (HK1.03 cents)

 Diluted  N/A N/A
    

The notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of  these financial statements.
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  2009 2008

 Note $’000 $’000

Loss for the year  (14,773) (8,080)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income

 for the year 13

 Exchange differences on translation of  financial

  statements of  overseas subsidiaries  (548) 965
   

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (15,321) (7,115)
    

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of  the Company  (14,714) (7,393)

Minority interests  (607) 278
   

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (15,321) (7,115)
    

The notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of  these financial statements.
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  2009 2008
 Notes $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Fixed assets 16 1,730 851
Interest in an associate 18 – –
Goodwill 19 – –
   

  1,730 851
   

Current assets
Inventories 20 2,078 59
Trade and other receivables 21 5,240 3,888
Amount due from an associate 18 84 –
Cash and cash equivalents 22 21,889 32,377
Current tax recoverable 26(a) 6 –
   

  29,297 36,324
   

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 1,211 2,639
Unearned revenue  – 816
Obligations under a finance lease 24 83 –
Amounts due to related parties 25 – 598
Current tax payable 26(a) – 11
   

  1,294 4,064
   

Net current assets  28,003 32,260
   

Total assets less current liabilities  29,733 33,111
   

Non-current liabilities
Obligations under a finance lease 24 298 –
   

NET ASSETS  29,435 33,111
    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 29(b) 10,931 8,198
Reserves  18,504 24,463
   

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders
 of the Company  29,435 32,661

Minority interests  – 450
   

TOTAL EQUITY  29,435 33,111
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of  directors on 1 March 2010

 Li Fang Hong Rong Hsu

 Director Director

The notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of  these financial statements.
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  2009 2008

 Notes $’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 17 4,200 4,200
   

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries 17 3,000 11,217

Other receivables 21 – 63

Cash and cash equivalents 22 15,997 17,279
   

  18,997 28,559
   

Current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other payables 23 334 623
   

Net current assets  18,663 27,936
   

NET ASSETS  22,863 32,136
    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 29(a)

Share capital  10,931 8,198

Reserves  11,932 23,938
   

TOTAL EQUITY  22,863 32,136
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of  directors on 1 March 2010

 Li Fang Hong Rong Hsu

 Director Director

The notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of  these financial statements.
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 Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

 Share Share Contributed Exchange Accumulated  Minority Total

 capital premium surplus reserve losses Total interests equity

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2008 8,007 159,239 6,426 (483) (138,371) 34,818 – 34,818

Partial disposal of  discontinued operations – – – – – – 172 172

Shares issued upon loan capitalisation 191 5,227 – – – 5,418 – 5,418

Professional expenses incurred in loan

 capitalisation – (182) – – – (182) – (182)

Total comprehensive loss

 for the year – – – 965 (8,358) (7,393) 278 (7,115)
        

Balance at 31 December 2008

 and at 1 January 2009 8,198 164,284 6,426 482 (146,729) 32,661 450 33,111

Disposal of  discontinued operations – – – – – – 157 157

Shares issued upon open offer 2,733 9,565 – – – 12,298 – 12,298

Professional expenses incurred 

 in open offer – (810) – – – (810) – (810)

Total comprehensive loss

 for the year – – – (548) (14,166) (14,714) (607) (15,321)
        

Balance at 31 December 2009 10,931 173,039 6,426 (66) (160,895) 29,435 – 29,435
        

The notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of  these financial statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)



 

  2009 2008

 Notes $’000 $’000

Operating activities
Loss before taxation  (14,773) (8,087)

Adjustments for:

 – Finance costs 6(a) 15 40

 – Interest income 5 (106) (445)

 – Depreciation 6(c) 475 211

 – Loss on disposal of  a subsidiary 6(c) 52 –

 – Gain on disposal of  discontinued operations 6(c) (1,101) (267)

 – Loss/(gain) on disposal of  fixed assets, net 5 52 (9)

 – Impairment loss of  trade receivables 6(c) 23 4

 – Impairment loss of  amount due from 

   an associate 6(c) 216 –
   

Operating loss before changes in 
 working capital  (15,147) (8,553)

Decrease in work-in-progress  – 598

Increase in inventories  (2,045) (59)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (2,100) 43,442

Increase in amount due from an associate  (300) –

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  537 (3,012)

(Decrease)/increase in unearned revenue  (579) 575

Decrease in amounts due to related parties  (598) (13,331)
   

Cash (used in)/generated from operations  (20,232) 19,660

Income tax paid  (17) –
   

Net cash (used in)/generated from
 operating activities  (20,249) 19,660
   

Investing activities
Interest received  106 445

Payment for purchase of  fixed assets  (1,354) (922)

Proceeds from disposal of  fixed assets  350 1,787

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from disposal

 of  discontinued operations  (645) 440
   

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
 investing activities  (1,543) 1,750
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  2009 2008

 Note $’000 $’000

Financing activities

Interest paid  (15) (40)

Proceeds from issue of  shares upon open offer  11,488 –

Proceeds from unsecured loans  – 946

Repayment of  obligations under a finance lease  (59) –
   

Net cash generated from financing activities  11,414 906
   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

 cash equivalents  (10,378) 22,316

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  32,377 9,178

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  (110) 883
   

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 22 21,889 32,377
    

The notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of  these financial statements.
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1 COMPANY INFORMATION

M Dream Inworld Limited is incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law 

(2001 Revision) of  the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability. The 

registered office of  the Company is located at P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, South Church 

Street, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies. The principal 

place of  business in Hong Kong is located at Room 2208, 22nd floor, Harbour Centre, 25 

Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company has its primary listing on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of  The 

Stock Exchange of  Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity of  

the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of  the Company’s subsidiary 

companies are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

The Group disposed of  its business segment of  system solution services during the financial 

year and such business segment as classified as discontinued operations for the year ended 

31 December 2009.

These financial statements are presented in thousands of  units of  Hong Kong dollars ($’000) 

unless otherwise stated.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 

Hong Kong Financial Repor ting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term 

includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong 

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of  Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles 

generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of  the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable 

disclosure provisions of  the Rules Governing the Listing of  Securities on the GEM of  

the Stock Exchange of  Hong Kong Limited (“the GEM Listing Rules”). A summary of  

the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group and the Company is set out 

below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or 

available for early adoption for the current accounting period of  the Group and the 

Company. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting 

from initial application of  these developments to the extent that they are relevant to 

the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial 

statements.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 comprise 

the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the 

Group’s interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of  the financial statements is the 

historical cost basis.

The preparation of  financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires 

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that af fect the 

application of  policies and repor ted amounts of  assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of  which form the basis of  making the judgements about 

carrying values of  assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate 

is revised if  the revision affects only that period, or in the period of  the revision and 

future periods if  the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of  HKFRSs that have significant 

effect on the financial statements and major sources of  estimation uncertainly are 

discussed in note 35.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has 

the power to govern the financial and operating policies of  an entity so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently 

are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial 

statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-

group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial 

statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in 

the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of  

impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of  the net assets of  subsidiaries attributable 

to interests that are not owned by the Company, whether directly or indirectly through 

subsidiaries, and in respect of  which the Group has not agreed any additional terms 

with the holders of  those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having 

a contractual obligation in respect of  those interests that meets the definition of  a 

financial liability. Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet 

within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of  the 

Company. Minority interests in the results of  the Group are presented on the face of  

the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of  comprehensive 

income as an allocation of  the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for 

the year between minority interests and the equity shareholders of  the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s interest in the equity 

of  a subsidiary, the excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority, are 

charged against the Group’s interest except to the extent that the minority has a 

binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment to cover the losses. If  

the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the Group’s interest is allocated all such 

profits until the minority’s share of  losses previously absorbed by the Group has been 

recovered.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 

impairment losses (see note 2(h)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control 

or joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and 

operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial 

statements under the equity method. Under equity method, the investment is initially 

recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the 

Group’s share of  the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the 

investment (see note 2(h)). The Group’s share of  the post-acquisition, post-tax 

results of  the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the 

consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share of  the post-acquisition 

post-tax items of  the investee’s other comprehensive income is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of  comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of  losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s 

interest is reduced to nil and recognition of  further losses is discontinued except 

to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 

payments on behalf  of  the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the 

carrying amount of  the investment under the equity method together with the Group’s 

long-term interest that in substance form part of  the Group’s net investment in the 

associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its 

associate are eliminated to the extent of  the Group’s interest in the investee, except 

where unrealised losses provide evidence of  an impairment of  the asset transferred, 

in which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the Group’s balance sheet, investment in an associate is stated at cost less 

impairment losses (see note 2(h)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of  the cost of  a business combination or an 

investment in an associate over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of  the 

acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a 

business combination is allocated to each cash-generating units, or groups, of  cash 

generating units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of  the combination and 

is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(h)). In respect of  associate, the carrying 

amount of  goodwill is included in the carrying amount of  the interest in the associate 

and the investment as a whole is tested for impairment whenever there is object 

evidence of  impairment (see note 2(h)).

Any excess of  the Group’s interest in the net fair value of  the acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of  a business combination or 

an investment in an assoicate is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of  a cash generating unit or an associate during the year, any attributable 

amount of  purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of  the profit or loss on 

disposal.

(f) Fixed assets

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of  an item of  fixed assets are 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of  the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of  retirement or 

disposal.

Items of  fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off  the cost of  items of  fixed assets, less their 

estimated residual value, if  any, using the straight line method over their estimated 

useful lives as follows:

– Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if  shorter

– Office equipment 3-5 years

– Furniture and fixtures 5 years

– Computer hardware and software 2-5 years

– Motor vehicles 5 years

Both the useful life of  an asset and its residual value, if  any, are reviewed annually.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of  transactions, is or contains a 

lease if  the Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific 

asset or assets for an agreed period of  time in return for a payment or a series of  

payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of  the substance of  

the arrangement and is regardless of  whether the arrangement takes the legal form of  

a lease.

(i) Classification of  assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group 

substantially all the risks and rewards of  ownership are classified as being held 

under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of  ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases.

(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the group acquires the use of  assets under finance leases, the amounts 

representing the fair value of  the leased asset, or, if  lower, the present value 

of  the minimum lease payments, of  such assets are included in fixed assets 

and the corresponding liabilities, net of  finance charges, are recorded as 

obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which 

write off  the cost or valuation of  the assets over the term of  the relevant 

lease or, where it is likely the group will obtain ownership of  the asset, the life 

of  the asset, as set out in note 1(f). Impairment losses are accounted for in 

accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 1(h). Finance charges 

implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the period 

of  the leases so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of  

charge on the remaining balance of  the obligations for each accounting period. 

Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in 

which they are incurred.

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of  assets held under operating leases, payments 

made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over 

the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative 

basis is more representative of  the pattern of  benefits to be derived from the 

leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an 

integral part of  the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are 

charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of  receivables

Receivables that are stated at cost are reviewed at each balance sheet date 

to determine whether there is objective evidence of  impairment. Objective 

evidence of  impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of  

the Group about one or more of  the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of  the debtor;

– a breach of  contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation; and

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal 

environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

If  any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised 

as follows:

– For investments in associates recognised using the equity method 

(see note 2(d)), the impairment loss is measured by comparing the 

recoverable amount of  the investment as a whole with its carrying 

amount in accordance with note 2(h)(ii). The impairment loss is 

reversed if  there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount in accordance with note 2(h)(ii).

– For trade and other receivables, the impairment loss is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of  

estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 

effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 

recognition of  these assets), where the effect of  discounting is material. 

This assessment is made collectively where financial assets carried 

at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as similar 

past due status, and have not been individually assessed as impaired. 

Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment 

collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit 

risk characteristics similar to the collective group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of  receivables (Continued)

If  in a subsequent period the amount of  an impairment loss decreases 

and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss. A reversal of  an impairment loss shall not result 

in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off  against the corresponding assets directly, 

except for impairment losses recognised in respect of  trade debtors and 

other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In 

this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an 

allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the 

amount considered irrecoverable is written off  against trade debtors and other 

receivables directly and any amounts held in the allowance account relating 

to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of  amounts previously 

charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account 

and subsequent recoveries of  amounts previously written off  directly are 

recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of  other assets

Internal and external sources of  information are reviewed at each balance 

sheet date to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, 

except in the case of  goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no 

longer exists or may have decreased:

– fixed assets;

– investments in subsidiaries;

– interest in an associate; and

– goodwill.

If  any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In 

addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or 

not there is any indication of  impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of  other assets (Continued)

– Calculation of  recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of  an asset is the greater of  its fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of  time value 

of  money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not 

generate cash inflows largely independent of  those from other assets, 

the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of  assets 

that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of  impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if  the carrying amount 

of  an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its 

recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of  cash-

generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of  any 

goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of  units) and 

then, to reduce the carrying amount of  the other assets in the unit (or 

group of  units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of  an 

asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell, 

or value in use, if  determinable.

– Reversals of  impairment losses

In respect of  assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed 

if  there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of  

goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of  an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised in prior years. Reversals of  impairment losses are credited to 

profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of  cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of  

purchase, costs of  conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 

their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of  business 

less the estimated costs of  completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 

sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of  those inventories is recognised as 

an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of  

any write-down of  inventories to net realisable value and all losses of  inventories are 

recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount 

of  any reversal of  any write-down of  inventories is recognised as a reduction in the 

amount of  inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal 

occurs.

(j) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated 

at amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note 2(h)), 

except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without 

any fixed repayment terms or the effect of  discounting would be immaterial. In such 

cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful 

debts.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently 

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of  discounting would be immaterial, in 

which case they are stated at cost.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits 

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible into known amounts of  cash and which are subject to an 

insignificant risk of  changes in value, having been within three months of  maturity at 

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part 

of  the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of  cash and cash 

equivalents for the purpose of  the consolidated cash flow statement.

(m) Employee benefits

(i) Shor t term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution 

retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined 

contribution retirement plans and the cost of  non-monetary benefits are 

accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by 

employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be 

material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong and 

defined contribution government pension schemes for the employees of  the 

Group’s overseas entities.

Contributions to mandatory provident funds as required under the Hong Kong 

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and to the state-managed 

retirement benefits schemes for the employees of  the Group’s overseas entities 

are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Share-based payments

The fair value of  share options granted to employees is recognised as an 

employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. 

The fair value is measured at grant date, taking into account the terms and 

conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the employees have 

to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the 

options, the total estimated fair value of  the options is spread over the vesting 

period, taking into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of  share options that is expected to 

vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in 

prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of  the review, 

unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with 

a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount 

recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of  options 

that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except where 

forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the 

market price of  the Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in the 

capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the 

share premium account) or the option expires (when it is released directly to 

retained profits).

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group 

demonstrably commits itself  to terminate employment or to provide benefits 

as a result of  voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is 

without realistic possibility of  withdrawal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets 

and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant 

amounts of  tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment 

to tax payable in respect of  previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary 

differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of  

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax 

assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred 

tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that 

may support the recognition of  deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 

differences include those that will arise from the reversal of  existing taxable temporary 

differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the 

same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the 

expected reversal of  the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which 

a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The 

same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary 

differences support the recognition of  deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 

losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if  they relate to the 

same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a 

period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of  deferred tax assets and liabilities are those 

temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial 

recognition of  assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit 

(provided they are not part of  a business combination), and temporary differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of  taxable 

differences, the group controls the timing of  the reversal and it is probable that the 

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of  deductible 

differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Income tax (Continued)

The amount of  deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner 

of  realisation or settlement of  the carrying amount of  the assets and liabilities, using 

tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of  a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date 

and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 

will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is 

reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 

available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of  dividends are recognised 

when the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are 

presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset 

against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, 

if  the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off  current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of  current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group 

intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of  deferred tax assets and liabilities, if  they relate to income taxes 

levied by the same taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant 

amounts of  deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 

recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the current 

tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of  uncertain timing or amount when the 

Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of  a past event, it is 

probable that an outflow of  economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 

and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of  money is material, 

provisions are stated at the present value of  the expenditure expected to settle the 

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of  economic benefits will be required, or 

the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent 

liability, unless the probability of  outflow of  economic benefits is remote. Possible 

obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of  one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 

unless the probability of  outflow of  economic benefits is remote.

(p) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of  the consideration received or receivable. 

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 

revenue and costs, if  applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in 

profit or loss as follows:

(i) Service income

Revenue from services are recognised when the services are rendered or 

under the stage of  completion basis when the outcome of  the transaction can 

be estimated reliably.

(ii) Sale of  goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ premises 

which is taken to be the point in time when the customer has accepted the 

goods and the related risks and rewards of  ownership. Revenue excludes value 

added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of  any trade discounts.

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(iv) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet initially when there is 

reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply 

with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for 

expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic 

basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that 

compensate the Group for the cost of  an asset are deducted from the carrying 

amount of  the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or 

loss over the useful life of  the asset by way of  reduced depreciation expense.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Translation of foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s 

functional and presentation currency.

In preparing the financial statements of  each individual group entity, transactions 

in currencies other than the functional currency of  that entity (foreign currencies) 

are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of  the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of  exchanges 

prevailing on the dates of  the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary 

items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the 

balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 

value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of  historical 

cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange dif ferences arising on the settlement of  monetary items, and on the 

translation of  monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 

they arise, except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part 

of  the Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange 

dif ferences are recognised in equity in the consolidated financial statements. 

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of  non-monetary items carried at 

fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising 

on the retranslation of  non-monetary items in respect of  which gains and losses 

are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange differences are also 

recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of  presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets 

and liabilities of  the Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation 

currency of  the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of  exchange prevailing at 

the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses are translated at the average 

exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the 

period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of  transactions are 

used. Exchange differences arising, if  any, are recognised as a separate component 

of  equity (the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit 

or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period in which they are 

incurred.

(s) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of  the Group’s business, the operations and 

cash flows of  which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of  the Group and which 

represents a separated major line of  business or geographical area of  operations, or 

is part of  a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of  a separate major line of  business 

or geographical area of  operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view 

to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation 

meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if  earlier. It also occurs if  the 

operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented on the 

face of  the statement of  comprehensive income, which comprises:

–  the post-tax profit or loss of  the discontinued operation; and

–  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less 

costs to sell, or on the disposal, of  the assets or disposal group(s) constituting 

the discontinued operation.

(t) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 

issue of  new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of  tax, from the 

proceeds.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Related parties

For the purposes of  these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to 

the Group if:

(i) the par ty has the abil i ty, directly or indirectly through one or more 

intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise significant influence over the 

Group in making financial and operating policy decisions, or has joint control 

over the Group;

(ii) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of  the Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a 

venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of  key management personnel of  the Group or the 

Group’s parent, or a close family member of  such an individual, or is an entity 

under the control, joint control or significant influence of  such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of  a party referred to in (i) or is an entity 

under the control, joint control or significant influence of  such individuals; or

(vi) the par ty is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of  

employees of  the Group or of  any entity that is a related party of  the Group.

Close family members of  an individual are those family members who may be 

expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the 

entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of  each segment item reported in the financial 

statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the 

Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of  allocating resources 

to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of  business and 

geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting 

purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar 

in respect of  the nature of  products and services, the nature of  production processes, 

the respect of  the type or class of  customers, the methods used to distribute the 

products or provide the services, and the nature of  the regulatory environment. 

Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if  they 

share a majority of  these criteria.

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued one new HKFRS, a number of  amendments to HKFRSs and new 

Interpretations that are first effective for the current accounting period of  the Group and 

the Company. Of  these, the following developments are relevant to the Group’s financial 

statements:

•  HKFRS 8, Operating segments

•  HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of  financial statements

•  Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures – improving disclosures 

about financial instruments

•  Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)

•  Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements – cost of  

an investment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate

•  HKAS 23 (revised 2007), Borrowing costs

•  Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment – vesting condit ions and 

cancellations

Except for HKAS 1 (revised 2007) as described below, the adoption of  these new and 

revised HKASs and HKFRSs have no impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

As a result of  the adoption of  HKAS 1 (revised 2007), details of  changes in equity during 

the period arising from transactions with equity shareholders in their capacity as such have 

been presented separately from all other income and expenses in a revised consolidated 

statement of  changes in equity. All other items of  income and expense are presented in the 

consolidated income statement, if  they are recognised as part of  profit or loss for the period, 

or otherwise in a new primary statement, the consolidated statement of  comprehensive 

income. Corresponding amounts have been restated to conform to the new presentation. 

This change in presentation has no effect on reported profit or loss, total income and 

expense or net assets for any period presented.

4 TURNOVER

The principal activities of  the Group are sales of  software and hardware and system solution 

services and sales of  display equipment, components and related technology.

Turnover represents the sales value of  goods and services supplied to customers. The 

amount of  each significant category of  revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as 

follows:

 Continuing Discontinued

 operations operations Total
   

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Turnover

Sales of  optical display

 equipment, components

 and related technology 5,191 403 – – 5,191 403

Sales of  software and hardware 364 1,639 – – 364 1,639

System solution services – – 5,226 13,191 5,226 13,191
      

 5,555 2,042 5,226 13,191 10,781 15,233
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5 OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME/(LOSS)

 Continuing Discontinued

 operations operations Total
   

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other revenue

Bank interest income 106 445 – – 106 445

Government grant – – 203 – 203 –

Written-back of  accruals

 and interest payables 275 – – – 275 –
      

 381 445 203 – 584 445
      

Other net income/(loss)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of  fixed 

 assets, net (52) 9 – – (52) 9

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 23 (992) 1 (14) 24 (1,006)

Net sundry (loss)/income (52) 23 – – (52) 23
      

 (81) (960) 1 (14) (80) (974)
      

 300 (515) 204 (14) 504 (529)
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6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

 Continuing Discontinued

 operations operations Total
   

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Finance costs

Interest expenses on unsecured loans – – – 40 – 40

Finance charges on obligations

 under a finance lease 15 – – – 15 –
      

 15 – – 40 15 40
      

(b) Staff  costs (including directors’

  remuneration)

Salaries, wages and other benefits 4,170 2,689 4,926 5,087 9,096 7,776

Contributions to defined contribution

 retirement plan 143 32 429 545 572 577
      

 4,313 2,721 5,355 5,632 9,668 8,353
      

(c) Other items

Depreciation 431 164 44 47 475 211

Impairment losses

 – trade receivables 23 4 – – 23 4

 – amount due from an associate 216 – – – 216 –

Gain on disposal of  discontinued

 operations – – (1,101) (267) (1,101) (267)

Loss on disposal of  a subsidiary 52 – – – 52 –

Auditors’ remuneration 515 272 40 23 555 295

Operating lease charges: minimum

 lease payments

 – hire of  office premises 1,768 1,632 321 387 2,089 2,019

 – hire of  other assets 314 – – – 314 –

Cost of  inventories 4,662 1,754 2,031 6,530 6,693 8,284
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7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

 Continuing Discontinued

 operations operations Total
   

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current tax – Hong Kong 

 Profits Tax

Provision for the year – 6 – – – 6

Overprovision in respect of  

 prior years – (13) – – – (13)
      

Actual tax credit – (7) – – – (7)
      

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2009 is calculated at 16.5% (2008: 16.5%) 

of  the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current rates of  

taxation ruling in the relevant countries. No taxation has been provided in the financial 

statements of  the subsidiaries operating outside Hong Kong for the year (2008: 

HK$nil).
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7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax credit and accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

(Loss)/profit before taxation

 Continuing operations (12,186) (8,387)

 Discontinued operations (2,587) 300
  

 (14,773) (8,087)
  

Notional tax credit on loss before taxation (2,437) (1,334)

Tax effect of  different taxation rates 

 in other tax jurisdictions (163) (42)

Tax effect of  non-deductible expenses 765 660

Tax effect of  non-taxable income (211) (79)

Tax effect of  unused tax losses not recognised 2,100 879

Overprovision in respect of  prior years – (13)

Others (54) (78)
  

Actual tax credit – (7)
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8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of  the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance is as follows:

  Salaries,  Retirement

 Directors’ allowances and Discretionary scheme 2009

 fees benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executive directors

Ms. Li Fang Hong (note (i)) – – – – –

Mr. Rong Hsu (note (ii)) 60 – – – 60

Mr. Yu Shu Kuen 900 – – – 900

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Cho Chun Wai (note (iii)) 120 – – – 120

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason (note (iv)) 120 – – – 120

Ms. Zhao Yang (note (v)) 60 – – – 60
     

 1,260 – – – 1,260
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8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of  the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance is as follows:

  Salaries,  Retirement

 Directors’ allowances and Discretionary scheme 2008

 fees benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executive directors

Mr. Yu Shu Kuen 1,000 – – – 1,000

Ms. Li Fang Hong (note (i)) – – – – –

Mr. Rong Hsu (note (ii)) 46 – – – 46

Mr. Tham Ming Yong (note (vi)) – 50 – 2 52

Mr. Ha Shu Tong (note (vii)) – – – – –

Non-executive directors

Mr. Koh Tat Lee, Michael (note (viii)) – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Cho Chun Wai (note (iii)) 14 – – – 14

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason (note (iv)) 7 – – – 7

Ms. Zhao Yang (note (v)) 49 – – – 49

Mr. Cheung Wai Shing (note (ix)) 15 – – – 15

Mr. Tsang Kwok Wai (note (x)) 54 – – – 54 

Mr. Chu Ray (note (xi)) 2 – – – 2
     

 1,187 50 – 2 1,239
     

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon 

joining the Group as compensation for loss of  office during the year.
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8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Ms. Li Fang Hong was appointed as executive director of  the Company on 19 May 2008.

(ii) Mr. Rong Hsu was appointed as independent non-executive director of  the Company on 26 

March 2008 and resigned on 11 December 2008. He was appointed as executive director of  the 

Company on 11 December 2008.

(iii) Mr. Cho Chun Wai was appointed as independent non-executive director of  the Company on 19 

November 2008.

(iv) Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason was appointed as independent non-executive director of  the 

Company on 11 December 2008.

(v) Ms. Zhao Yang was appointed as independent non-executive director of  the Company on 6 

March 2008.

(vi) Mr. Tham Ming Yong resigned as executive director of  the Company on 22 May 2008.

(vii) Mr. Ha Shu Tong resigned as executive director of  the Company on 17 May 2008.

(vii) Mr. Koh Tat Lee, Michael resigned as non-executive director of  the Company on 29 February 

2008.

(ix) Mr. Cheung Wai Shing resigned as independent non-executive director of  the Company on 31 

March 2008.

(x) Mr. Tsang Kwok Wai resigned as independent non-executive director of  the Company on 24 

November 2008.

(xi) Mr. Chu Ray resigned as independent non-executive director of  the Company on 13 March 2008.
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9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of  the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2008: one) is a former director 

whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The aggregate of  the emoluments in respect of  

the other four (2008: four) individuals are as follows:

 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Salaries and other emoluments 2,234 1,089

Retirement scheme contributions 192 29
  

 2,426 1,118
  

The emoluments of  the four (2008: four) individuals with the highest emoluments are within 

the following bands:

 

 2009 2008

 Number of Number of

 individuals individuals

HK$nil – HK$1,000,000 4 4
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10 DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(a) On 20 March 2008, the Group disposed of  a 30% equity interest in a wholly-owned 

subsidiary company, Elipva Limited, together with its interest in a subsidiary, Elipva 

Inc., at a consideration of  HK$560,000.

 On 29 October 2009, the Group fur ther disposed of  the remaining 70% equity 

interest in Elipva Limited, together with its interest in a subsidiary, Elipva Inc., at a 

consideration of  HK$300,000.

 The business of  sales of  system solution services carried out by the subsidiaries was 

discussed as discontinued operations.

 Details of  the net assets disposed of  and the gain on the disposal of  the discontinued 

operations are as follows:

 2009

 $’000

Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of:

Fixed assets 40

Goodwill –

Trade and other receivables 698

Cash and cash equivalents 421

Trade and other payables (2,202)

Minority interests 157

Exchange reserve (439)
 

 (1,325)
 

Professional expenses incurred on disposal 524

Gain on disposal of  discontinued operations (note 6(c)) 1,101
 

 300
 

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration 300
 

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration received 300

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of  (421)

Payment for professional expenses incurred on disposal (524)
 

 (645)
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10 DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(b) The combined results of  the disposal of  discontinued operations as in note 10(a) 

and the sales of  system solution services for the year have been included in the 

consolidated income statement as follows:

 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Turnover 5,226 13,191

Cost of  sales (2,031) (6,530)
  

Gross profit 3,195 6,661

Other revenue and net income/(loss) 204 (14)

Selling and administrative expenses (5,986) (6,574)
  

(Loss)/profit from operations (2,587) 73

Finance costs – (40)
  

(Loss)/profit before taxation (2,587) 33

Income tax expense – –
  

 (2,587) 33

Gain on disposal of  discontinued operations 

 (note 10(a)) 1,101 267
  

(Loss)/profit for the year from

 discontinued operations (1,486) 300
  

11 DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of  any dividend in respect of  the year ended 

31 December 2009 (2008: HK$nil).

12 LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of  the Company includes a loss of  

HK$20,761,000 (2008: HK$8,288,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements 

of  the Company.
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13 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/INCOME

Tax effects relating to each component of  other comprehensive (expense)/income

 

 2009 2008

 Before   Net-of- Before  Net-of-

 tax  Tax tax tax Tax tax

 amount expense amount amount expense amount

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Exchange differences on translation of  financial 

 statements of  overseas subsidiaries (548) – (548) 965 – 965
      

14 LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of  basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to equity 

shareholders of  the Company of  HK$14,166,000 (2008: HK$8,358,000) and the 

weighted average of  935,140,000 ordinary shares (2008: 817,499,000 shares) in issue 

during the year, calculated as follows:

 Number of shares
 

 2009 2008

 ’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 819,838 800,694

Effect of  open offer 115,302 –

Effect of  loan capitalisation – 16,805
  

Weighted average number of  ordinary shares

 at 31 December 935,140 817,499
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14 LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

(a) Basic loss per share (Continued)

From continuing operations

The calculation of  basic loss per share from continuing operations attributable to the 

equity shareholders of  the Company is based on the following data:

 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Loss for the year attributable to the

 equity shareholders of  the Company

 for the purpose of  basic loss per share (14,166) (8,358)
  

(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued

 operations (1,486) 300

Less: (Loss)/profit for the year attributable

 to minority interests from discontinued operations (607) 278
  

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the equity

 shareholders of  the Company from

 discontinued operations (879) 22
  

Loss for the year attributable to the equity

 shareholders of  the Company for the purpose

 of  basic loss per share from continuing operations (13,287) (8,380)
  

The calculation of  basic loss per share from continuing operations is based on the 

loss attributable to equity shareholders of  the Company of  HK$13,287,000 (2008: 

HK$8,380,000) and the weighted average of  935,140,000 ordinary shares (2008: 

817,499,000 shares) in issue during the year.

From discontinued operations

The calculation of  basic loss per share from discontinued operations is based on the 

loss attributable to equity shareholders of  the Company of  HK$879,000 (2008: profit 

of  HK$22,000) and the weighted average of  935,140,000 ordinary shares (2008: 

817,499,000 shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

No diluted loss per share has been presented as there were no dilutive events during 

the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008.
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15 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by a mixture of  both 
business lines and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is 
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of  
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following two 
reportable segments.

– Sale of  system solution services

– Sale of  display equipment, components and related technology

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years ended 31 
December 2009 and 2008 is set out below.

 Continuing  Discontinued 

 operations operations
  

 Sales of display
 equipment, 
 components and   System solution
 related technology services Unallocated Consolidated
       

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from external customers 4,373 403 5,226 13,191 1,182 1,639 10,781 15,233
        

Segment result (535) (480) (1,486) 300   (2,021) (180)
        

Unallocated income       442 1,496
Unallocated expenses       (13,194) (9,403)
        

Loss before income tax       (14,773) (8,087)
Income tax credit       – 7
        

Loss for the year       (14,773) (8,080)
        

Segment assets
Total assets 8,649 10,174 – 3,707 22,378 23,294 31,027 37,175
        

Segment liabilities
Total liabilities 438 541 – 2,205 1,154 1,318 1,592 4,064
        

Other segment information
Capital expenditure 422 90 32 53 1,340 779 1,794 922
Depreciation 97 3 44 47 334 161 475 211
Impairment loss on trade receivables – – – – 23 4 23 4
Gain on disposal of  discontinued
 operations – – (1,101) (267) – – (1,101) (267)
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15 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of  (i) the 

Group’s revenue from external customers and (ii) the Group’s fixed assets and 

interests in associates (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of  

customers is based on the location at which the services were provided or the goods 

delivered. The geographical location of  the specified non-current assets is based on 

the physical location of  the asset, in the case of  property, plant and equipment and 

the location of  operations, in the case of  interests in associates.

 Revenues from  Specified

 external non-current

 customers  assets
  

 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Hong Kong (place of  domicile) 1,182 1,639 1,311 706

Mainland China 4,373 403 415 87

Singapore 5,226 13,191 4 58
     

 10,781 15,233 1,730 851
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16 FIXED ASSETS

The Group

    Computer
   Furniture hardware
 Leasehold Office and and Motor 
 improvements equipment fixtures software vehicles Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2008 1,032 485 571 3,041 – 5,129
Exchange differences 67 16 4 7 – 94
Additions 2 196 80 224 420 922
Disposals (1,011) (390) (575) (276) – (2,252)
      

At 31 December 2008 90 307 80 2,996 420 3,893
      

At 1 January 2009 90 307 80 2,996 420 3,893
Exchange differences 3 2 – 82 – 87
Additions 431 266 2 60 1,035 1,794
Disposals – – (–) (866) (466) (1,332)
Disposals of  discontinued operations (93) (130) – (2,228) – (2,451)
      

At 31 December 2009 431 445 82 44 989 1,991
      

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2008 241 180 66 2,805 – 3,292
Exchange differences 13 3 1 (4) – 13
Charge for the year 38 29 48 89 7 211
Written back on disposals (205) (82) (101) (86) – (474)
      

At 31 December 2008 87 130 14 2,804 7 3,042
      

At 1 January 2009 87 130 14 2,804 7 3,042
Exchange differences 3 3 – 79 – 85
Charge for the year 48 81 16 194 136 475
Written back on disposals – – – (867) (63) (930)
Written back on disposals of  discontinued
 operations (91) (119) – (2,201) – (2,411)
      

At 31 December 2009 47 95 30 9 80 261
      

Net book value:

At 31 December 2009 384 350 52 35 909 1,730
      

At 31 December 2008 3 177 66 192 413 851
      

Fixed assets held under finance leases

During the year, additions to motor vehicles of  the Group financed by new finance leases 
were HK$440,000 (2008: HK$nil). At the balance sheet date, the net book value of  motor 
vehicles held under a finance lease of  the Group was HK$375,000 (2008: HK$nil).
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17 INVESTMENTS IN AND ACCOUNTS WITH SUBSIDIARIES

 The Company
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 11,985 11,985

Less: Provision for impairment loss (7,785) (7,785)
  

 4,200 4,200
  

Amounts due from subsidiaries 21,035 13,958

Less: Provision for impairment loss (18,035) (2,741)
  

 3,000 11,217
  

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, have no fixed terms of  

repayment and are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Details of  the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2009 are as below:

  Particulars of

  issued and fully Proportion of ownership interest
   

 Place of paid up share Group’s Held by

 incorporation capital/registered effective the Held by a Principal

Name of company and operation capital interest Company subsidiary activities

Billion Harvest  Hong Kong Ordinary 100% – 100% Dormant

 Development   HK$1

 Limited (note 1)  

Elite Ford Limited (note 2) Hong Kong Ordinary 100% – 100% Investment

  HK$1    holding

Elipva (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary 100% – 100% Sales of

 Limited (note 2)  HK$1    software and 

 (formerly known as      hardware

 “NewTrend MDI Limited”)

Elipva International  British Virgin Ordinary 100% 100% – Investment

 Limited (note 2)  Islands (“BVI”) US$1,000    holding
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17 INVESTMENTS IN AND ACCOUNTS WITH SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

  Particulars of

  issued and fully Proportion of ownership interest
   

 Place of paid up share Group’s Held by

 incorporation capital/registered effective the Held by a Principal

Name of company and operation capital interest Company subsidiary activities

Elipva (Greater China)  Hong Kong Ordinary 100% – 100% Investment

 Holdings Limited (note 2)  HK$1    holding

iBar International Holdings BVI Ordinary 100% 100% – Investment

 Limited (note 2)  US$1    holding

Karlon Development  Hong Kong Ordinary 100% – 100% Sourcing of

 Limited (note 2)  HK$1    electronic

      parts and sales

      of  optical display

      equipment,

      components

      and related

      technology

Mission Ahead Limited BVI Ordinary 100% – 100% Investment

 (note 2)  US$1    holding

Upway (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary 100% 100% – Dormant

 Limited (note 2)  HK$1

北京聯夢活力世界咨詢 The People’s Registered capital 100% – 100% Provision of

 服務有限公司 (note 3)  Republic of  China  HK$1,000,000    IT marketing

  (“PRC”)     and

      consultancy

      services

廣泰益昌（北京）科技 PRC Registered capital 100% – 100% Sales of

 有限公司 (note 4)  HK$10,000,000    optical

      display

      equipment,

      components

      and related

      technology
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17 INVESTMENTS IN AND ACCOUNTS WITH SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

1 Newly acquired on 23 July 2009, audited by Peleus & Co., Certified Public Accountants for 

statutory purposes.

2 Audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong, for statutory 

or consolidation purposes.

3 Audited by 北京嘉潤會計師事務所有限公司, the PRC, for statutory purpose. The subsidiary is 

registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under the PRC law.

4 Audited by 北京森和光會計師事務所有限責任公司, the PRC, for statutory purpose. The subsidiary 

is registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under the PRC law.

18 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Unlisted shares, at cost – –

Share of  net assets – –
  

 – –
  

Amount due from an associate 300 –

Less: Provision for impairment loss (note 6(c)) (216) –
  

 84 –
  

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of  

repayment and denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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18 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Details of  the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2009 are as below:

  Particulars of Proportion of ownership interest
   

 Place of issued and fully Group’s  Held by

 incorporation paid up share effective the Held by a Principal

Name of company and operations capital interest Company subsidiary activities

  

OLE Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 25% – 25% Securities

  HK$4    investment

Summary financial information on an associate is set out below:

 Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue Loss

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009

100 per cent 343 (1,200) (857) – (842)

Group’s effective interest – – – – –
     

 

19 GOODWILL

 The Group

 $’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008 18,334

Disposals of  discontinued operations (18,334)
 

At 31 December 2009 –
 

Accumulated impairment losses:

At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008 18,334

Written back on disposals of  discontinued operations (18,334)
 

At 31 December 2009 –
 

Carrying value:

At 31 December 2008 and 2009 –
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20 INVENTORIES

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Trading goods 2,078 59
  

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 The Group The Company
  

 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 1,390 3,398 – –

Less: provision for impairment loss (note 21(b)) – (374) – –
     

 1,390 3,024 – –

Prepayments and deposits 2,512 864 – 63

Other receivables 1,338 – – –
     

 3,850 864 – 63
     

 5,240 3,888 – 63
     

All of  the trade and other receivable, apart from rental deposits of  HK$138,000, are 

expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

The directors considered that the fair value of  trade receivables are not materially different 

from their carrying amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their 

inspection.
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

The majority of  the Group’s sales are on credit or documents against payment. 

According to the credit rating of  different customers, the Group allow a range of  

credit periods ranging from 30 days to 60 days (2008: 30 days to 60 days) to its trade 

customers. Further details on the group’s credit policy are set out in note 30(a).

Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables (net of  allowance for 

doubtful debts) with the following ageing analysis as of  the balance sheet date:

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Current 1,064 2,001
  

Less than 1 month past due 266 750

1 to 3 months past due 24 33

More than 3 months but less than

 12 months past due 36 240
  

Amounts past due 326 1,023
  

 1,390 3,024
  

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of  trade receivables are recorded using an allowance 

account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of  the amount is remote, in which 

case the impairment loss is written off  against trade receivables directly (see note 

2(h)).

The movements in the provision for impairment loss on trade receivables are as 

follows:

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 374 370

Provision for impairment loss on trade receivables 23 4

Uncollectible amounts written off  (23) –

Disposal of  discontinued operations (374) –
  

At 31 December – 374
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews trade receivables for evidence of  

impairment on both individual and collective basis. The impaired trade receivables are 

due from customers that were in default of  payments.

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements over 

the impaired trade receivables, whether determined on individual or collective basis.

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of  the Group’s trade receivables that are past due as at the 

balance sheet date but not impaired, based on due date is as follows:

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Neither past due nor impaired 1,064 2,001
  

Less than 1 month past due 266 750

1 to 3 months past due 24 33

More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 36 240
  

 326 1,023
  

 1,390 3,024
  

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of  

customers for whom there was no recent history of  default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of  independent 

customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, 

management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of  

these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 

balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral 

over these balances.
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 The Group The Company
  

 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deposits with banks 6,003 17,206 6,003 17,000

Cash at bank and in hand 15,886 15,171 9,994 279
     

 21,889 32,377 15,997 17,279
     

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 The Group The Company
  

 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 346 661 – –

Accrued expenses and other payables 865 1,978 334 623
     

 1,211 2,639 334 623
     

All of  the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as an income 

within one year or are repayable on demand.
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23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with the following ageing analysis 

as of  the balance sheet date.

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

0 to 90 days 346 353

91 to 180 days – 213

Over 180 days – 95
  

 346 661
  

24 OBLIGATIONS UNDER A FINANCE LEASE

At 31 December 2009, the Group had obligations under the finance lease repayable as 

follows:

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 Present  Present

 value of the Total value of  the Total

 minimum minimum minimum minimum

 lease lease lease lease

 payments payments payments payments

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 83 99 – –
    

After 1 year but within 2 years 87 99 – –

After 2 years but within 5 years 211 223 – –

After 5 years – – – –
    

 298 322 – –
    

 381 421 – –
    

Less: total future interest expenses  (40)  –
    

Present value of  lease obligations 381 381 – –
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25 AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

The amounts due were unsecured, interest free, had no fixed terms of  repayment.

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated balance sheet represents:

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year – 6

Balance of  Profits Tax (credit)/provision relating 

 to prior years (6) 5
  

 (6) 11
  

(b) Deferred taxation

No provision for deferred tax liabilities has been made as the Group and the Company 

do not have any material temporary differences between the tax bases of  assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements (2008: HK$nil).

The Group has not recognised any deferred tax assets in respect of  losses of  

HK$37,520,000 (2008: HK$24,793,000) due to the unpredictability of  the future profit 

streams.

The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following years ending 31 December:

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000

2011 42 42

2012 286 290

2013 544 551

2014 1,596 –

No expiry date 35,052 23,910
  

 37,520 24,793
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27 DEFINED/RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the 

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of  the Laws of  Hong Kong) 

for employees employed under the jurisdiction of  the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. 

The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent 

trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make 

contributions to the scheme at 5% of  the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of  

monthly relevant income of  HK$20,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of  the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of  the state-sponsored 

retirement benefit scheme organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC. 

The subsidiaries are required to contribute, based on a certain percentage of  the basic 

salary of  its employees, to the retirement benefit scheme and have no further obligations for 

the actual payment of  pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. 

The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme represents for the entire pension obligations 

payable to retired employees.

Under the Central Provident Fund (the “CPF”) of  Singapore, the Group contributed 14.5% 

(2008: 14.5%) of  relevant income of  the staff  and the contribution is charged to the income 

statement.

Under the MPF Scheme and CPF, there is no forfeited contribution which could be utilised to 

reduce the level of  the contribution by the Group and therefore there was no such balance 

as at 31 December 2009.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its employees in respect of  its 

subsidiaries outside Hong Kong, Singapore and the PRC. In the opinion of  the directors of  

the Company, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 

2009 in respect of  the retirement of  its employees.
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

2007 New Share Option Scheme

The purpose of  the 2007 New Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant 

options to either directors or employees of  the Group in order to recognise and motivate the 

contribution of  them, and to provide incentives and to help the Group in retaining its existing 

employees and recruiting additional employees, providing them with direct economic interest 

in attaining the long term business objectives of  the Group.

No options were granted under the 2007 New Share Option Scheme up to the date of  the 

approval of  the financial statements.

29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of  each component of  

the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of  changes 

in equity. Details of  the changes in the Company’s individual components of  equity 

between the beginning and the end of  the year are set out below:

The Company

 Share Share Contributed Accumulated

 capital premium surplus losses Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2008 8,007 159,239 2,985 (135,043) 35,188

Shares issued upon loan

 capitalisation 191 5,227 – – 5,418

Professional expenses incurred

 in loan capitalisation – (182) – – (182)

Total comprehensive loss

 for the year – – – (8,288) (8,288)
     

Balance at 31 December 2008

 and at 1 January 2009 8,198 164,284 2,985 (143,331) 32,136

Shares issued upon open offer 2,733 9,565 – – 12,298

Professional expenses incurred

 in open offer – (810) – – (810)

Total comprehensive loss

 for the year – – – (20,761) (20,761)
     

Balance at 31 December 2009 10,931 173,039 2,985 (164,092) 22,863
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Share capital

Authorised and issued share capital

 

 2009 2008

 No. of  No. of

 shares  shares

 ’000 $’000 ’000 $’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of  HK$0.01 each 6,000,000 60,000 6,000,000 60,000
    

Ordinary shares, issued

 and fully paid:

At 1 January 819,837 8,198 800,694 8,007

Shares issued in open offer

 (note (i)) 273,279 2,733 – –

Shares issued upon loan

 capitalisation (note (ii)) – – 19,143 191
    

At 31 December 1,093,116 10,931 819,837 8,198
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Share capital (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed on 9 July 2009, the Company made an open 

offer (the “Open Offer”) of  273,279,476 offer shares at a subscription price of  HK$0.045 

per offer share on the basis of  one offer share for every three shares.

(ii) On 15 January 2008, the Company entered into a Loan Capitalisation Agreement with 

AsiaVest Partners Limited (“AsiaVest”), an independent third party, pursuant to which 

AsiaVest agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of  2,338,460 new shares at a price of  

approximately HK$0.585 per share by capitalizing the unsecured loan owed by the 

Company to AsiaVest. As at the date of  the Loan Capitalisation Agreement, the Company 

was indebted to AsiaVest in the sum of  approximately HK$1,368,000.

 On 5 February 2008, the Company entered into a Loan Capitalisation Agreement 

with Brilliant Path Limited (“Brilliant”), an independent third party, pursuant to which 

Brilliant agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of  16,804,979 new shares at a price of  

approximately HK$0.241 per share by capitalising the unsecured loan owed by the 

Company to Brilliant. As at the date of  the Loan Capitalisation Agreement, the Company 

was indebted to Brilliant in the sum of  approximately HK$4,050,000.

 Details of  the loan capitalisations are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 15 

January 2008 and 5 February 2008.

The holders of  ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time 

to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of  the company. All ordinary 

shares rank equally with regard to the company’s residual assets.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium reserve

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of  the Cayman Islands, the fund in the 

share premium account of  the company is distributable to the shareholders 

of  the company provided that immediately following the date on which the 

dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay 

off  its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of  business.
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of  the Group represents the difference between the 

nominal value of  share capital of  the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the 

reorganisation scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure 

of  the Group in preparation for the public listing of  the Company’s shares on 

the Stock Exchange set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 18 December 

2001, over the nominal value of  the shares of  the Company issued in exchange 

thereof.

The contributed surplus of  the Company represents the excess of  the fair value 

of  the subsidiaries companies acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation 

over the nominal value of  the shares of  the Company issued in exchange 

thereof.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of  the Cayman Islands, a company may 

make distributions to its members out of  the contributed surplus account under 

certain circumstanices. In addition, the share premium account of  the company 

is distributable to the shareholders of  the company provided that immediately 

following the distribution or payment of  dividend, the Company is able to pay its 

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of  business.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of  the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences 

arising from the translation of  the financial statements of  foreign operations. 

The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in 

note 2 (q).

(iv) Distributability of  reserves

At 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of  reserves available for 

distribution to equity shareholders of  the Company was approximately 

HK$11,932,000 (2008: HK$23,938,000).
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(d) Capital management

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 

shareholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of  risk 

and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to 

maintain a balance between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible 

with higher levels of  borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound 

capital position, and makes judgements to the capital structure in light of  changes in 

economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis of  a net debt-

to-adjusted-capital ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debt as total debt (which 

includes trade and other payables, obligation under a finance lease and amounts 

due to related parties, which is applicable) less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted 

capital comprises all components of  equity.

During 2009, the Group’s strategy was to maintain the an adjusted net debt-

to-adjusted-capital ratio at the lower end of  the range 10% to 45%. In order to 

maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of  dividends paid 

to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt 

financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

Notes to the Financial Statements

80

M DREAM
INWORLD LIMITED

ANNUAL
REPORT

2009

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)



29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(d) Capital management (Continued)

 The Group The Company
  

 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current liabilities:

Trade and other payables 1,211 2,639 334 623

Obligations under a finance lease 83 – – –

Amounts due to related parties – 598 – –
     

Non-current liabilities 1,294 3,237 334 623

Obligations under a finance lease 298 – – –
     

Total debt 1,592 3,237 334 623

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (21,889) (32,377) (15,997) (17,279)
     

Adjusted net debt (20,297) (29,140) (15,663) (16,656)
     

Adjusted capital – Total equity 29,435 33,111 22,863 32,136
     

Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio N/A N/A N/A N/A
     

Neither the Company nor any of  its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed 

capital requirements.

Notes to the Financial Statements

81

M DREAM
INWORLD LIMITED

ANNUAL
REPORT

2009

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)



30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arises in the normal 

course of  the Group’s business.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices 

described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and 

cash and cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place and the 

exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are banks with 

high credit-ratings.

In respect of  trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed 

on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on 

the customer’s past history of  making payments when due and current ability to pay, 

and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to 

the economic environment in which the customer operates. The directors are of  the 

opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible receivables has been made in the 

financial statements and the Group has no significant concentration of  credit risk. 

Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of  each 

financial asset in the balance sheet.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of  the Group’s exposure to credit risk 

arising from trade and other receivables are set out in note 21.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements 

and its compliance with lending covenants and to ensure that it maintains sufficient 

reserves of  cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet 

date of  the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual 

undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

(i) The Group

 

 2009 2008

 Contractual undiscounted  Contractual undiscounted

 cash outflow cash outflow
  

  More than More than  Balance   Balance

 Within 1 1 year but 2 years but  sheet Within 1  sheet

 year or on less than less than  carrying year or on  carrying

 demand 2 years 5 years Total amount demand Total amount

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other payables 1,211 – – 1,211 1,211 2,639 2,639 2,639

Obligations under a finance

 lease 99 99 223 421 381 – – –

Amounts due to related

 parties – – – – – 598 598 598
        

 1,310 99 223 1,632 1,592 3,237 3,237 3,237
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(ii) The Company

 

 2009 2008

 Contractual undiscounted  Contractual undiscounted

 cash outflow  cash outflow
  

   Balance   Balance

 Within 1  sheet Within 1  sheet

 year or on  carrying year or on  carrying

 demand Total amount demand Total amount

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accrued expenses and 

 other payables 334 334 334 623 623 623
      

(c) Interest rate risk

The company’s interest rate risk arises primarily from finance lease obligations at fixed 

rates expose the company to fair value interest rate risk.

The company’s interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out below:

 

 2009 2008

 Effective  Effective

 interest  interest

 rate  rate

 % $’000 % $’000

Obligations under a finance lease 6.05 15 – –
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk

(i) Forecast transactions

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and 

purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional 

currency of  the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to 

this risk are primarily Renminbi, Singapore dollars and United States dollars.

(ii) Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of  receivables and payables held in currencies other than the 

functional currency of  the operations to which they relate, the Group ensures 

that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign 

currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

By assessing the foreign currency risk, the effect arising from a reasonable 

possible changes in the exchange rates of  Renminbi, Singapore dollars and 

United States dollars against Hong Kong dollars in the next twelve months was 

not material to the results for the years ended 2009 and 2008, on the basis that 

all other variables remain constant.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(iii) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the balance sheet date to 

currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a 

currency other than the functional currency of  the entity to which they relate. 

For presentation purposes, the amounts of  the exposure are shown in Hong 

Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

The Group

 Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
 

 2009 2008

   United   United

  Singapore States  Singapore States

 Renminbi dollars dollars Renminbi dollars dollars

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables 1,591 – 992 79 570 –

Cash and cash equivalents 1,329 – – 481 103 4

Trade and other payables (445) – – (135) (272) (11)

Amounts due to related parties – – – – (50) –
      

Net exposure arising from

 recognised assets

 and liabilities 2,475 – 992 425 351 (7)
      

The Company has no significant exposure to currency risk arising from forecast 

transactions or recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other 

than the functional currency of  the Company as at 31 December 2009 and 

2008.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is not exposed to any equity securities risk or commodity price risk.

(f) Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair 

values as at 31 December 2009 and 2008.

31 COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2009, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases are payable as follows:

 The Group
 

 2009 2008

 Properties Others Properties Others

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 1,296 513 1,317 35

After 1 year but within 5 years 581 181 – 74
    

 1,877 694 1,317 109
    

The Group is the lessee in respect of  a number of  properties, items of  office equipment and 

motor vehicles held under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of  

3 months to 60 months, at the end of  which period all terms are renegotiated. None of  the 

leases includes contingent rentals.

32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, the Group and the Company had no significant contingent 

liabilities.

33 MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group acquired HK$440,000 of  motor vehicle under a finance lease. 

In prior year, the Group had unsecured loans with a carrying amount of  approximately 

HK$5,418,000 capitalised into 19,143,439 ordinary shares of  the Company with par value of  

HK$0.01 each.
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of  the Company and their remuneration is 

disclosed in note 8.

(b) Transactions with other related parties

During the year, the Group entered into the following material related par ty 

transactions:

 

  2009 2008

 Note $’000 $’000

Purchase of  display equipment,

 components and related technology

 from a related company (i) 4,608 –

Sale of  fixed assets to a related

 company (ii) 350 –
   

(i) Purchases of  display equipment, components and related technology from 

鴻源控股有限公司 (“Greatsource Holding Co., Ltd.”), a PRC company which 
is controlled by Ms. Li Fang Hong, an Executive Director and substantial 

shareholder of  the Company, and her associate(s), amounted to HK$4,608,000 

(2008: HK$nil).

 The Group’s whol ly owned subsidiar y, 廣泰益昌（北京）科技有限公司 , 
(“Guang Tai Yichang (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.”) entered into a framework 

agreement with 鴻源控股有限公司 (“Greatsource Holding Co., Ltd.”), a PRC 
company which is controlled by Ms Li Fang Hong, an Executive Director and 

substantial shareholder of  the Company, and her associate(s), to purchase 

display equipment and components and related technology, in an aggregate 

commercial value of, but not exceeding, HK$97,000,000, HK$126,000,000 and 

HK$149,000,000 in the calendar years of  2009, 2010 and 2011 respectively. 

The transaction has been approved in an extraordinary general meeting on 

9 March 2009. Details of  the transaction and the results of  the extraordinary 

general meeting are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 18 

February and 9 March 2009 respectively.

(ii) Two motor vehicles with an aggregate net book value of  HK$364,000 were sold 

to a related company at a total consideration of  HK$350,000.

 Balances with related parties are disclosed in the balance sheets and in notes 17, 18 

and 25.
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35 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 

and other factors, including expectations of  future events that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of  causing a material adjustment to 

the carrying amount of  assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 

below.

(i) Trade and other receivables

The aged debt profile of  trade and other receivables is reviewed on a regular basis 

to ensure that the debtor balances are collectible and follow up actions are promptly 

carried out if  the agreed credit periods have been exceeded. However, from time to 

time, the Group may experience delays in collection. Where recoverability of  debtor 

balances are called into doubt, specific provisions for impairment losses are made 

based on credit status of  the customers, the aged analysis of  the trade and other 

receivable balances and their write-off  history. Certain receivables may be initially 

identified as collectible, yet subsequently become uncollectible and result in a 

subsequent write-off  of  the related receivable to the income statement. Changes 

in the collectability of  trade and other receivables for which provision are not made 

could affect the results of  operations.

(ii) Useful lives of fixed assets

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of  fixed assets in 

order to determine the amount of  depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful 

lives are estimated at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, 

the expected usage, wear and tear of  the assets, as well as technical obsolescence 

arising from changes in market demand or service output of  the assets. The Group 

also performs annual reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful lives 

continue to be valid.

(iii) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement 

is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are 

many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 

uncertain during the ordinary course of  business. The Group recognised liabilities 

for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of  whether additional taxes will be 

due. Where the final tax outcome of  these matters is different from the amounts that 

were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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36 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s 

presentation.

37 POST BALANCE EVENTS

On 13 January 2010, the Group acquired a 40% equity interest in Cellex investment Limited 

for a cash consideration of  HK$600,000.

38 P O S S I B L E  I M PA C T  O F  A M E N D M E N T S ,  N E W  S TA N D A R D S  A N D 
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2009

Up to the date of  issue of  these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of  

amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year 

ended 31 December 2009 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements:

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of  

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards – 

Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters2

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First Time Adoption of  Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards1

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment 

– Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment 

Transactions2

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument6

HKAS 18 Amendments Revenue2

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosure5

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements1

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: 

Presentation – Classification of  Rights Issues3

HKAS 39 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged 

Items1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendment Prepayment of  a Minimum Funding Requirement5

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distribution of  Non-cash Assets to Owners1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments4

HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Amendment Determination of  Length of  Lease Term in respect of  

Hong Kong Land Leases2
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38 P O S S I B L E  I M PA C T  O F  A M E N D M E N T S ,  N E W  S TA N D A R D S  A N D 
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2009 (Continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has also issued Improvements to HKFRSs* which set out 

amendments to number of  HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and 

clarifying wording. Except for the amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and 

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 which are effective for the annual periods on or after 1 July 2009, other 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 although 

there is separate transitional provision for each standard.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

* Improvements to HKFRSs contain amendments to HKFRS 2, HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, 

HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 18, HKAS 36, HKAS 38, HKAS 39, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 

and HK(IFRIC)-Int 16.

The Group is assessing the impact of  these amendments and new standards and has so 

far concluded that they are not in a position to state whether their adoption will have a 

significant impact on the Group’s results of  operations and financial position.
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The following is a summary of  the published results and of  the assets and liabilities of  the Group 

for the five years ended 31 December 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009:

Results

 Year ended
  

 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 5,555 15,233 15,112 13,931 14,432
     

(Loss)/profit from operations (13,272) (8,047) 10,755 5,328 (107,783)

Finance costs (15) (40) (174) (2,209) (2,136)
     

(Loss)/profit before taxation (13,287) (8,087) 10,581 3,119 (109,919)

Taxation – 7 (18) – –
     

(Loss)/profit after taxation

 from continuing operations (13,287) (8,080) 10,563 3,119 (109,919)

(Loss)/profit after taxation

 from discontinued operations (1,486) – – 12,402 (27,977)
     

(Loss)/profit for the year (14,773) (8,080) 10,563 15,521 (137,896)
     

(Loss)/profit attributable to

 – Equity holders of

   the Company (14,166) (8,358) 10,563 15,521 (137,772)

 – Minority interests (607) 278 – – (124)
     

 (14,773) (8,080) 10,563 15,521 (137,896)
     

Assets and liabilities

 As at 31 December
  

 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 31,027 37,175 58,947 3,719 6,994

Total liabilities (1,592) (4,064) (24,129) (37,197) (54,866)

Minority interests – (450) – – –
     

Shareholders’ fund 29,435 32,661 34,818 (33,478) (47,872)
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